Effect of chemopreventive agents on differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells

Vilas Wagh¹, Smita Jagtap¹, Kesavan Meganathan¹, Shiva Prasad Potta¹, Johannes Winkler¹, Juergen Hescheler¹, Agapios Sachinidis¹

¹Center of Physiology and Pathophysiology, Institute of Neurophysiology, Robert-Koch Str. 39, 50931 Cologne, Germany

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Materials and methods
 - 3.1. Embryonic stem cells lines and culture
 - 3.2. Compounds
 - 3.3. Induction of ES cell Differentiation
 - 3.4. Measurement of growth inhibition of cells
 - 3.5. Measurement of ES cell differentiation inhibition
 - 3.6. RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis
 - 3.7. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR and quantitative RT-PCR
 - 3.8. Western blotting and Immunocytochemistry
 - 3.9. Statistics Analysis

4. Results

- 4.1. Effects of EGCG, curcumin and quercetin on ESCs cytotoxicity
- 4.2. Effects of the compounds on EB development
- 4.3. Effects of the compounds on ESCs differentiation
- 4.4. Effect of EGCG on the differentiation of ESCs into cardiomyocytes

5. Discussion

6. Acknowledgements

7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Chemopreventive agents are derived from edible plants and from ancient time is a part of daily intake for many humans and animals. There are several lines of compelling evidence from epidemiological, clinical and laboratory studies that these dietary constituents are associated in reducing cancer risks. However, developmental toxicity of these natural compounds cannot be excluded. In the present study, we examined the effect of chemopreventive agents on the differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells (ESCs) as an *in vitro* embryotoxicity model. We assumed that inhibition of developmentally regulated genes in vitro might predict developmental toxicity also under in vivo conditions. We found that epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) (20 µM) induced the expression of mesodermal and cardiomyocyte genes and a significant increase in the number and the percentage of cardiomyocytes. The increase of the subpopulation correlated with higher numbers of beating foci and beating frequencies. Curcumin on the other hand at 0.4 μ M was seen to enhance expression of ectodermal transcripts. Quercetin (2.5 μ M) was found to inhibit several developmentally regulated genes.

2. INTRODUCTION

Numerous publications report that both nutritive and nonnutritive plant-derived dietary factors can inhibit carcinogenesis in a mechanism called chemoprevention (1-4). A large proportion of the daily diet includes polyphenols that are found in many vegetables and also in the leaves, leaf buds and internodes of the tea plant (5). A large number of chemicals present in food plants are reported to interfere with specific stages of carcinogenesis and atherosclerotic development (3, 6-8). Multiple mechanisms have been shown to account for the beneficial actions of dietary constituents, but attention has recently been focused on signaling pathways targeted by chemopreventive phytochemicals (9, 10). In this context, it has been proposed that polyphenols exert their beneficial effects via their antioxidant activity against reactive oxygen species (ROS) (9, 10). Curcumin is a polyphenolic compound present in the rhizome of turmeric, a widelyused spice. It has a wide range of effects such as antiinflammatory, antioxidant, antiproliferative and antiangiogenic effects (11, 12). Quercetin is a flavonoid and this compound class possesses significant antihepatotoxic, antiallergic, anti-inflammatory,

antiosteoporotic and antitumor activities (13-17). Beneficial health effects of quercetin, epigallocatechin gallates (EGCG) and related phenolic compounds found in tea, wines, and other plant products involves pharmacologic intervention to prevent, inhibit or reverse carcinogenesis or prevent the development of invasive cancer (18-20). Natural polyphenolic compounds reduce in general oxidative stress, which is the most likely mechanism in the protective effects of these compounds. Overall, chemopreventive agents have received much attention as dietary components with health benefits, but the effect on developmental toxicity are not yet studied.

Recently, embryonic stem cells (ESCs) have been recognized promising tools for basic research and regenerative medicine because of their ability to differentiate in vitro (21, 22) into the three germ layers (endoderm, mesoderm and ectoderm) and further to somatic cells such as neurons or muscle cells. There is increasing evidence that antioxidants influence the differentiation of ESCs and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) toward specific somatic cells. In this context it has been shown that the polyphenolic compound resveratrol induces osteogenesis in iPSCs (23) and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) promoted the differentiation of ESCs to smooth muscle cells (24). In addition vitamin C synergistically with salvianolic acid B promoted cardiomyocyte development of ESCs (25). Additionally, ESCs offers one of the most promising invitro developmental toxicity models validated as the embryonic stem cell test (EST) (26-28) and has added advantages over the classical evaluation of chemicalinduced developmental toxicity that require large number of laboratory animals (29). ESCs during in vitro differentiation recapitulate cellular developmental processes and gene expression patterns of early embryogenesis.

In the present study, we investigated in detail the effects of EGCG, curcumin and quercetin on the differentiation processes in murine ESCs. Here we show that EGCG promotes the differentiation of ESCs to mesodermal cell types including cardiomyocytes. Curcumin enhanced the differentiation of ESCs towards ectodermal cells.

3. MATERIAL AND METHODS

3.1. Embryonic stem cells lines and culture

Undifferentiated CGR8 cells (ECACC 95011018, ECACC, Salisbury, Wiltshire, UK) were propagated in Glasgow Minimum Essential Medium (GMEM, Life Technologies, Merelbeke, Belgium) supplemented with 0.05 mM beta-mecaptoethanol, 2 mM L-glutamine, 1 mM sodium pyruvate and 10 % fetal calf serum (Life Technologies, Merelbeke, Belgium) as well as leukemia inhibitory factor (ESGRO-LIF, Millipore, Schwalbach, Germany) under feeder-free conditions (30) on gelatinized tissue culture flasks. CGR8 cells were dissociated by trypsinization and were passaged every second day to maintain confluence between 60 and 70 %. Cells were cultured in a humidified atmosphere of 5 % CO₂ at 37 °C.

3.2. Compounds

Curcumin, EGCG and quercetin were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Heidelberg, Germany) and were dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO). The concentration of DMSO was kept less than 0.1% (v/v) in all experimental groups, and 0.1% DMSO was used as a vehicle control throughout the study. Additionally, 5-Flurouracil (5FU, Sigma-Aldrich, Heidelberg, Germany) was used as cytotoxic agent for cytotoxicity assessments.

3.3. Induction of ESCs differentiation

ESC differentiation was done (Figure 2A) as described previously (31). Briefly, the CGR8 cells were differentiated in vitro using the hanging-drop method to generate embryoid bodies (EBs) (32). Differentiation was induced by LIF withdrawal and by forming 20 µl hanging drops on 10 cm low adhesion dishes from trypsindissociated ESCs (2.5×10^4 cells / ml). Hanging drops were prepared in differentiation medium made of Iscove's modified Dulbecco's Medium (IMDM, Gibco, Eggenstein, Germany) supplemented with 20 % fetal calf serum, 1 % non-essential amino acids, 2 mM L-glutamine, and 100 µM beta-mercaptoethanol). Compounds or solvent control (DMSO) were added to the hanging drop medium. Plates were incubated at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂ in a humidified incubator for 2 days. EBs were washed from hanging drops and resuspended in differentiation medium and further incubated at 37 °C in 5 % CO₂ incubator under orbital shaking conditions (20 rpm), with a medium change every alternate day. The clusters increased in size during differentiation and appearance of spontaneously contracting cardiomyocyte clusters was monitored using an inverted phase contrast microscope (Zeiss Axiovert 25, Oberkochen, Germany). The beating clusters within the EBs were examined for 1) beating frequency measured manually by counting number of beats per minute in individual EBs and here defined as number of beats per minute 2) number of beating EBs. Videos of beating EBs were captured using a Sony camera (Sony- DFW-X700, Sony Corporation, Tokyo, Japan).

3.4. MTS toxicity assay

The growth inhibitory effect of curcumin, EGCG and quercetin on CGR8 cells was measured using 1) MTS (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-

sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium) assay (33) and 2) Crystal violet staining assay (34). Cells were seeded at 1 x 103 cells in 96-well plates, after 24 h, the cells were treated with different concentration of curcumin, EGCG and quercetin (0.01 to 100 μ M). After 72 h treatment, medium containing test compounds was removed, each well was washed twice with PBS and 200 μ l of 2 mg/ml MTS (Promega, Heidelberg, Germany) containing phenazine methosulfate (PMS, Sigma-Aldrich, Heidelberg, Germany) was added into each well. The plates was incubated at 37 °C until purple color due to formazan dye was produced which was quantified in an ELISA micro plate reader (Tecan, Crailsheim, Germany) at an absorbance of 490 nm.

Crystal violet stains DNA, and the amount of dye taken up by cells is quantitated colorimetrically. For this assay, compound treated 96-well plates were washed twice with PBS and 50 μ l of 0.5 % crystal violet (Sigma-Aldrich, Heidelberg, Germany) dissolved in 20 % methanol (w/v) was added to each wells, and after 10 minute of incubation at RT each wells were washed thrice with PBS. The dye was eluted by incubating with 200 μ l of 1 % sodium dodecyl sulphate solution (SDS, Sigma-Aldrich, Heidelberg, Germany) for 30 minutes on a rotating shaker at RT. Absorbance was measured at 570 nm on a Tecan spectrophotometer.

Data analysis was performed by estimating the percentage cytotoxicity by normalizing the compound concentration to that of the DMSO-treated wells. The drug concentration at which 50 %, 30 % and 10 % inhibition of cell growth was observed, were determined as IC_{50} , IC_{30} and IC_{10} values, respectively, and was calculated as described previously (35).

3.5. Assay for the inhibition of the ESC differentiation

The measurement of inhibition of ESCs differentiation was applied to predict the embryotoxic potential of the compounds. This in-vitro developmental toxicity test is based on the impairment of ESCs differentiation to contracting cardiomyocytes (36). EBs were formed by hanging drop method in presence of IC₁₀ and IC₃₀ of curcumin, EGCG, and quercetin as described above. For analysis of cell differentiation, on day 10, 160 EBs were examined for contracting myocardial foci by phase contrast microscopy and for each concentration the percentage of EBs containing spontaneously contracting cardiomyocytes was determined. Furthermore, for each concentration, 60 EBs were evaluated for the presence of contractile activity and beating frequency was determined. The results for all compound test concentrations were assessed from at least three independent experiments of which more than 60% of the EBs had differentiated into contracting myocardial cell in the solvent control.

3.6. RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis

EBs (4-, 7- and 12-days old) were collected after treatment with curcumin, EGCG and quercetin at a concentration of IC_{10} and IC_{30} . Undifferentiated ESCs and vehicle-treated EBs were collected as controls and total RNA was extracted using Trizol reagent (Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany) as per the manufacturer's instructions. Genomic DNA contamination was eliminated by treating the isolated total RNA with DNaseI (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). RNA yield and purity were assessed by spectrophotometric analysis. cDNA was synthesized by taking 2 μ g total RNA and reverse transcribing with SuperScript Vilo (Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany) with random hexamers according to the manufacturer's recommended protocol.

3.7. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR and quantitative RT-PCR

All PCR reactions were carried out keeping mRNA levels from beta-actin as endogenous controls. The PCR primers were designed using primer3 software (37). For semi-quantitative PCR, each reaction contained 10 μ l of Dreamtaq Polymerase master mix (MBI Fermentas, St. Leon-Rot, Germany) using 0.5 μ M forward and reverse

primers, 1 µl of cDNA as a template in a final volume of 20 µl. The PCR reaction was carried out in a Biorad thermocycler with the following amplification conditions: denaturation at 95 °C/2 minutes, 22-35 cycles of 95 °C /30 sec. denaturation, 60 °C /30 sec. annealing and 72 °C /60 sec. of elongation. The PCR products were electrophoresed on 2 % agarose gels with 0.001% ethidium bromide against a 100- base pair ladder.

Real Time PCR analysis was carried out on ABI-7500 Fast PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Weiterstadt, Germany). The PCR reaction consisted of 12.5 µl SYBR Green PCR master mix (MESA-FAST mix, Eurogentec, Liege, Belgium), 1 µl of primer pair (0.4 µM each) and 1 µl of cDNA template made to a final volume of 25 ul. The standard conditions for PCR were used, 95 °C/5 minutes Taq activation, 40 cycles of 95 °C / 15 sec., 60 °C / 30sec., and 72 °C/ 30sec. A melting curve was produced to verify single PCR product amplification. The mRNA levels were normalized against beta-actin levels and calculated using a relative quantitation using the cycle threshold (ct) method by 7500 Fast System SDS software 1.4.0 (Applied Biosystems). The primer sequences used in the PCR analysis are shown in Table 1. For all PCR reactions, biological triplicates were used and reactions were carried out in triplicates for each sample. Negative controls were reactions containing H₂O as template.

3.8. Western blotting and immunocytochemistry

Expression of tissue-specific proteins during ES cell differentiation was monitored by immunoblotting and immunofluorescence staining. The following primary antibodies were used: anti-MYH6 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK), anti-ACTN1 and anti-beta-ACTIN (Sigma-Aldrich, Heidelberg, Germany). EBs (7-days and 12-days old) from vehicle control and EGCG treatment were lysed using ProteoJET lysis buffer (MBI Fermentas, St. Leon-Rot, Germany) supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich, Heidelberg, Germany). Protein content was estimated using Bradford reagent (Sigma-Aldrich. Heidelberg, Germany) and equal amounts (40 µg) of protein was resolved in a 10 % SDS-polacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Proteins were transferred to PVDF membrane (Millipore, Schwalbach, Germany). Membranes were blocked for 1 h in 5 % nonfat dry milk (Amersham, Freiburg, Germany) in TBST (10 mM Tris, 15 mM NaCl, 0.05 % Tween-20) and incubated with primary antibody overnight, washed three times for 10 minutes each, incubated in species specific secondary antibody (antimouse HRP or anti-rabbit HRP, Sigma-Aldrich, Heidelberg, Germany) for 1 h, washed five times for 10 minutes each, and developed using ECL detection system (Pierce Biotechnologies, Rockford, IL, USA) on photographic film (Kodak Biomax, Rochester, NY, USA).

Immunofluorescence staining was performed on trypsin-dissociated 8-days old EBs that were grown for two more days on a fibronectin coated cover slips as described previously (38). Briefly, cells growing on cover slips were rinsed twice with PBS, fixed with 4 % para-formaldehyde for 30 minutes at RT. Antibodies for the analysis of tissuespecific proteins were anti-MYH6, anti-ACTN1 for

Gene	RefSeq ID	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
BETA-ACTIN	NM 007393	TGGTGGGAATGGGTCAGA	GTACATGGCTGGGGGTGTTGA
POU5F1	NM 0136332	CAGCAGATCACTCACATCGCCA	GCCTCATACTCTTCTCGTTGGG
NANOG	NM 028016	GAACGCCTCATCAATGCCTGCA	GAATCAGGGCTGCCTTGAAGAG
SOX2	NM 011443	AACGGCAGCTACAGCATGATGC	CGAGCTGGTCATGGAGTTGTAC
TUBB3	NM 023279	CATGGACAGTGTTCGGTCTG	TGCAGGCAGTCACAATTCTC
NES	NM 016701	AGGCTGAGAACTCTCGCTTG	ATTAGGCAAGGGGGAAGAGA
PAX6	NM 013627	AGTGAATGGGCGGAGTTATG	TGAGACATGTCAGGTTCACTCC
MTAP2	NM 001039934	AGGAAAAGGCCCAAGCTAAA	GCTTGGGGACTGTGTGATG
AFP	NM 007423	TCTTCCACAAGGATCTGTGC	TGCAGCACTTCTCCAAAAGG
DCN	NM 00190451	GAGGGAACTCCACTTGGACA	CTCACAGCCGAGTAGGAAGC
SOX17	NM 011441	GCCGATGAACGCCTTTATGGTG	TCTCTGCCAAGGTCAACGCCTT
FLT1	NM 010228	CGGTTCACCTGGACTGAGAC	TCAGATTCATCGTCCTGCAC
HNF1B	NM 009330	GCCTTAGTGGAGGAGTGTAACAG	TCTGCCTGAACGCCTCTTCCTT
МҮН6	NM 001164171	GCTGGAAGATGAGTGCTCAGAG	CCAGCCATCTCCTCTGTTAGGT
TBRACHUYURY	NM 009309	ACTGGTCTAGCCTCGGAGTG	GAGCCTCGAAAGAACTGAGC
BMP2	NM 007553	AGACCACCGGCTGGAGAG	GTTCCCGGAAGATCTGGAGT
ACTN1	NM 134156	TCGCCAAGTGTCAACGCTCGTT	GGTCGATGGTTTCCAGCAGCTT

Table 1. Primer sequences and used for RT-PCR analysis

cardiomyocytes and skeletal myocytes. Fixed cells were permeabilized (0.5 % Triton-X100 in PBS; 10 minutes; RT), and non-specific binding sites blocked with 5 % bovine serum albumin (Sigma-Aldrich, Heidelberg, Germany) for 1 h at RT. Thereafter cells were incubated overnight at 4 °C with (1:200) primary antibodies. Secondary antibodies (Molecular Probes, Karlsruhe, Germany) binding was done for 1 h in dark at 4 °C after thrice washing with PBS. Counter staining was done using Applichem, 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI, Darmstadt, Germany) followed by three washes with PBS. Cover slips were mounted using ProLongGold mounting medium (Molecular Probes, Karlsruhe, Germany). Images were captured with an inverted fluorescence microscope (ZeissAxiovert-200, Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Protein specific positive stain and DAPI counter stained cells were counted separately in five or more visual field, selected randomly. The percentage of protein specific cells was calculated according to the formula: protein positive cells / DAPI counterstained cells x 100%.

3.9. Statistical analysis

Results are shown as mean +/- SE or mean +/- SD as indicated. Statistical analysis was done using paired and unpaired Student's *t*-test where applicable. *P*-values of less than 0.05 were considered significant.

4. RESULTS

4.1. Effects of EGCG, curcumin and quercetin on ESC cytotoxicity

Figure 1A indicates the chemical structure of the compounds. All cultures started at the same initial cell density and ESCs were incubated for 72 h with 0.1 to 100 μ M curcumin, quercetin and EGCG. Control wells were supplemented with either DMSO as vehicle controls or PBS as solvent control and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) was used as a cytotoxic agent. We quantified the cytotoxicity by means of MTS and crystal violet (CV) staining assays. Figure 1B and Figure 1C shows the dose response curve for

the compound tested via MTS and CV assay sets, respectively. In MTS assay, the order of cytotoxicity from high to low for the compounds was EGCG (IC₅₀ = 55 +/- 5 μ M), curcumin (IC₅₀ = 13.2 +/- 1.5 μ M), quercetin (IC₅₀= 4.2 +/- 0.3 μ M) and 5-FU (IC₅₀= 1.6 +/- 0.3 μ M). Figure 1D shows the morphology of the cells after treatment with the compounds at IC₅₀ concentrations. As indicated treatment with quercetin resulted into markedly smaller clusters of ESCs indicating the potent toxic effects of quercetin compared to EGCG and curcumin.

4.2. Effects of the compounds on EB development

To test the effect of compounds, ESCs were differentiated using the hanging drop protocol (Figure 2A). ESCs (500 cells in 20 μ l) were grown in hanging drops for 2 days in the presence or absence of the test compounds. EBs were transferred to bacteriological dishes (Figure 2A). After 4 days, cellular aggregates formed in the presence of compounds could be distinguished from control EBs in terms of morphology and size (Figure 2B). Control EBs had clear boundaries and appeared circular globular shaped (Figure 2A). As demonstrated, EGCG at concentrations used had no effects on the EB size (Figure 2B), whereas treatment with curcumin reduced the EB size. In contrast, treatment with quercetin resulted in a striking decrease of the EB size in a concentration-dependent manner, demonstrating the cytotoxic effects of quercetin.

4.3. Effects of the compounds on ESCs differentiation

Progressive differentiation of ESCs to ectodermal, endodermal and mesodermal germ layers cells and further to somatic cells was monitored by semiquantitative PCR analysis in undifferentiated ESCs and in 4-, 7- and 12-days old EBs (Figure 3). The pluripotency marker *Pou5f1* (Oct4) was highly expressed in undifferentiated ESCs (Figure 3A), remained detectable in 4- and 7-days old EBs and was absent in 12-days old EBs, suggesting a progressive loss of pluripotency. *Pou5f1* expression was not affected by any of the three test substances (Figure 3A). Figure 3B-D shows expression



Figure 1. Effect of EGCG, curcumin and quercetin on undifferentiated and differentiating ESCs. A) Chemical structure of EGCG, curcumin and quercetin, numbers in square brackets represent molecular weight. Inhibitory effect of EGCG, curcumin, quercetin and 5FU on pluripotent CGR8 cells measured via B) MTS cytotoxicity assay, C) Crystal violet assay. D) The cytotoxic effect caused by EGCG curcumin and quercetin at IC_{50} concentration after 72 h of undifferentiated culture. Scale bar corresponds to 100 µm.

patterns of mesoderm-, ectoderm- and endoderm-associated markers. The temporal expression patterns of neuronal markers *Nes*, *Pax6* and *Tubb3* (Figure 3B) were not affected by the compounds at the IC₁₀ and IC₃₀. As indicated in Figure 3C, the time course of the expression of the endodermal hepatic gene markers *Dcn* and alpha-fetoprotein (*Afp*), *Hnf1b* and *Flt1* was not significantly affected by the IC₁₀ and IC₃₀ concentrations of the test compounds. In contrast, expression of *Sox17* was inhibited in 7-days old EBs by EGCG at the IC₃₀ concentration and by curcumin at IC₁₀ and IC₃₀ concentration. Interestingly, quercetin at IC₃₀ concentration completely blocked the

expression of *Sox17* even in 4-days old EBs (Figure 3C). The time course of the expression of the mesodermal markers *Tbrachyury* (early mesoderm), *Bmp2* (late mesoderm) as well as of the cardiomyocyte markers *Myh6* (alpha-myosin heavy chain) and *Actn1* (alpha-cardiac actinin) was not affected after treatment of ESCs with the various compounds (Figure 3D).

For more accurate quantification of mRNA levels, we applied qRT-PCR methodology. Treatment of the cells with all three compounds did not influence the expression of the pluripotency markers *Pou5fl*, *Nanog* and



Figure 2. Experimental design of ESC differentiation and EB morphology. A) Schematic representation of ESC differentiation using hanging drop method. ESCs are dissociated and resuspended in differentiation medium and hanging drops of 500 cells / 20 μ l are made on low-adherent plates. Hanging drops allow cells to aggregate in 3 dimensional structures called EBs, which initiates ESC differentiation. The EBs grow in size, maintaining the spherical structure, and form cells of the three germ layers, including functional cardiomyocytes which are observed as spontaneously beating foci in EBs. B) 4 and 10 day old EBs treated with IC₁₀ and IC₃₀ concentrations of EGCG, curcumin and quercetin. Arrow head represents dead cells. Scale bar corresponds to 100 μ m.



Figure 3. Effect of EGCG, curcumin and quercetin on ESC differentiation. ESCs were allowed to differentiate in presence of compounds at IC_{10} and IC_{30} concentrations. After 4, 7 and 12 days of differentiation, total RNA was extracted and synthesised cDNA was used for gene expression profiling by semi-quantitative RT-PCR. Pluripotency and differentiation markers were examined. A) house-keeping control *beta-actin* and pluripotency marker *Pou5f1*, and characteristic ESC differentiation markers of B) ectoderm (*Nes, Pax6, Tubb3*), C) endoderm (*Dcn, Flt1, Hnf1b, Sox17, Afp*) and D) mesoderm (*Myh6, Actn1, Tbrachyury, Bmp2*). Control sample was treated with vehicle.



Figure 4. Gene expression of ECS differentiation affected by compound treatments. ESCs differentiated into EBs in the presence of EGCG, curcumin and quercetin at IC_{10} and IC_{30} concentrations were characterised at transcript levels using quantitative RT-PCR. The study was performed from 4-, 7- and 12- days of EBs and normalized to gene expression in undifferentiated ESCs represented as relative quantitation. A) represents the pluripotency markers *Pou5f1 Nanog and Sox2*, B) ectodermal (*Mtap2, Nes, Pax6, Tubb3*), C) endodermal (*Dcn, Flt1, Sox17, Afp*) and D) mesodermal markers (*Myh6, Actn1, Tbrachyury, Bmp2*). Bar denotes relative gene expression in $log_{10} \pm SD$. Asterix implies P < 0.05

Sox2 (Figure 4A). Compared to the control EBs, the expression of Nes in 7- and 12-days old EBs was significantly inhibited after treatment with quercetin whereas treatment with curcumin resulted in an elevated expression level of Nes (Figure 4B). Curcumin treatment resulted in an elevation of the expression level of Nes in 4-, 7-, and 12-days old EBs, whereas EGCG treatment did not have an effect on the gene expression of Nes. Pax6 expression was enhanced in the 4-, 7-, and 12-days old curcumin-treated EBs compared to the control EBs. Curcumin also elevated the expression of Tubb3 in 7and 12-days old EBs whereas 40 μ M EGCG and 2.5 μ M quercetin significantly inhibited the Tubb3 expression compared to the control EBs (Figure 4B). Mtap2 expression in 4-, 7- and 12- days old EBs was increased by curcumin, but was downregulated by EGCG and quercetin treatment (Figure 4B). Endodermal markers Afp, Dcn, and Flt1 were upregulated significantly in 4-, 7- and 10-day old EBs treated with both concentrations of EGCG. Quercetin inhibited Afp expression in 12-day

old EBs, whereas quercetin and curcumin did not significantly alter Dcn or Flt1 expression (Figure 4C). The endoderm-specific marker Sox17 was not affected by EGCG or curcumin treatments, while quercetin significantly down regulated the Sox17 expression for 4-, 7- and 12- days old EB treated at IC₃₀ concentrations (Figure 4C). No significant effects of EGCG on the expression of Myh6 and Actn1 were observed in 4-days old EGCG-treated EBs, compared to control EBs (Figure 4D). However, an increase of Bmp2 and Tbrachyury expression has been observed in the 4-days old EGCG-treated EBs. Interestingly, a significant increase of Myh6, Bmp2 and Actn1 expression in 7- and 10-days EGCG-treated EBs (at 20 and 40 µM) was observed (Figure 4D). Curcumin had no effect on Myh6, Bmp2 and Actn1 expression, however the mesodermal transcription factor T (brachyury) was significantly downregulated by higher concentration in 7- and 12days old EBs. Quercetin caused no significant change in expression of mesodermal markers (Figure 4D).

4.4. Effect of EGCG on the differentiation of ESCs into cardiomyocytes

Since an increased expression of the *Myh6* and *Actn1* was observed after treatment of the cells with EGCG, the effects of EGCG in non-cytotoxic concentrations of 20 and 40 μ M on the beating activity of spontaneously differentiated cardiomyocytes generated from ESCs applying the protocol as described in Figure 2A.

Each EB contained one or more beating areas and an increase in size strength of contraction and beating frequency was observed in EGCG-treated EBs during further differentiation steps (supplementary video v1). In control EBs, 64 % of the total 12-days old EBs contained beating areas (n = 160, Figure 5A). The percentage of 12days old beating EBs was significantly increased by 20 and 40 µM EGCG to 81 % and 72 %, respectively (Figure 5A). Cardiac differentiation of EBs treated with 20 and 40 μ M of EGCG was enhanced in comparison to control 10- and 12-days old EBs. In contrast to EGCG, quercetin at both concentrations markedly reduced the number of the 10 and 12-days old beating EBs whereas curcumin slightly (but not significantly) reduced the number of beating EBs. Longer culture times resulted in cell death and decrease of beating EBs. To test whether the observed increased cardiomyogenic effect of EGCG correlates with an of cardiomyocyte-specific enhanced expression cytoskeletal proteins, immunostainings of alpha-cardiacactinin (ACTN1) and alpha-Myosin heavy chain (MYH6) were done for control and treated EBs. The beating cardiomyocytes cells stained positively with anti-ACTN1 mAb and anti- MYH6 mAB (Figure 5B). The percentage of alpha-actinin positive cells was determined.

quantitative assessment further verified This these structural findings, on 10- day, only 12 % percent cells stained positively for ACTN1 in the control mounts, whereas 20 µM EGCG and 40 µM EGCG vielded 23 % and 18 % cells respectively were positively stained for cardiomyocytes. In addition, the proportion of cardiomyocytes induced by 20 μ M of EGCG that contained MYH6 positive labeled areas was significantly increased by about 18 % in contrast with the case of 9 % in the control. In addition, treatment of EBs with 20 and 40 μM EGCG also resulted in remarkable increase in the beating frequency of EBs of spontaneously beating cardiomyocytes by a factor of 9 % and 10 % respectively (Figure 5C, supplementary video 1). Moreover the protein expression measured by Western blotting for cardiac muscle protein MYH6 were detected to be expressed in significantly higher amounts in 7-, and 12-day EBs treated with EGCG compared to the controls (Figure 5D).

5. DISCUSSION

Of the substances tested, quercetin was the most cytotoxic among the three compounds and inhibited the expression of ectoderm- and endoderm-related genes. Curcumin was less cytotoxic than quercetin and enhanced the expression of neural genes during the differentiation of ESCs. Curcumin had no effect on the cardiomyogenic differentiation of ESCs whereas quercetin even inhibited

cardiomyogenesis. Our study demonstrates that in contrast to curcumin and quercetin, EGCG is cytotoxic to undifferentiated ESCs only in high concentrations. Noncytotoxic concentrations of EGCG induced an increase of expression of cardiomyocyte-specific genes such as *Myh6* and *Actn1*. This gradual increase corresponded to an increase in protein expression MYH6 and ACTN1 as measured by Western blotting and/or immunocytochemistry after treatment with 20 µM and 40 μ M of EGCG and further confirms the stimulation of cardiac differentiation. Accordingly, the number of beating EBs and their beating frequency was elevated. Gene expression analysis measured by qRT-PCR revealed increased expression of mesodermal transcription factors and structural proteins. Some endodermal markers that were part of either early endoderm or meso-endoderm were also upregulated. However, ectoderm markers were for the most part not significantly affected by the EGCG treatments. It was previously shown that stimulation of cardiomyogenesis by exogenous ROS not only increases the number of beating cardiomyocyte foci, but also enhances the expression of cardiac-specific genes and transcription factors (39). Interestingly, radical scavengers can increase the level of cardiac gene expression, which indicates that these factors are regulated by redox-changes rather than absolute increase or decrease of intracellular ROS. Differentiating ESCs are capable of endogenously generating ROS (40, 41). In an independent report, EGCG alone induced production of H2O2 in a concentrationdependant manner, and activates AMPK through the production of ROS (42). In our previous study, we tested EGCG at entirely different conditions including the concentrations tested (43)., EGCG was added to 1-day old murine EBs instead of directly to undifferentiated ESCs prior to EB formation. Under these conditions at 5 µM we found a slight inhibition of cardiogenesis. These results emphasize that the experimental conditions are of decisive importance for screening of molecules for specific cell differentiation. In this context, it should be considered that ESC differentiation is a dynamic process including the differential expression of numerous genes and gene products that could be targets of EGCG. Also, the test concentration of EGCG has a particular importance. Several studies demonstrated that EGCG inhibits biological signaling such as mitogen activated protein kinase, cyclin-dependant kinase, growth factor-related cell signaling, PDGF-BB, nuclear factor kB and topoisomerase I at a concentration higher than 20 µM (42, 44). Another publication reports that green tea polyphenols protect against myocardial damage and cardiac contractility enhance by modulating myofilament Ca²⁺ sensitivity in post-MI rats. It was shown that EGCG acts by modulating pH-induced changes in myofilament Ca²⁺ sensitivity in cardiac muscle by binding to cardiac troponin-C (45, 46). The mESC model described here examines kev regulated developmentally genes affected by developmental toxicants with a fast turn around time and reduced costs, and with certain modification, could be used with human ESCs to better predict the effects on embryo development.



Figure 5. Effect of EGCG, curcumin and quercetin on ESC differentiation into beating EBs. ESCs differentiated into EBs in presence of IC_{10} and IC_{30} concentrations were evaluated for the beating abilities. A) Percent differentiation into beating EBs counted on day 10 and 12 day after treatments. The percentage was determined by counting 160 EBs in three biological replicates. Bar represents percent beating EBs ± SE. Immunostaining for Bi) ACTN1 and Bii) MYH6 done from 10 day old differentiating cells treated with IC_{10} and IC_{30} concentrations of EGCG, Scale bar corresponds to 100 µm. C) Estimation of spontaneous beating frequency for compound treatments. Sixty EBs were analyzed for measuring beating frequency, represented as a bar of beats per minute ± SE. and D) Cardiac specific protein (MYH6) expression on 7 day and 12 day old EBs treated with EGCG.

Curcumin is a natural phenolic compound and has been reported to be capable of scavenging free radicals and inhibiting inflammation (47-49), contributing to cancer chemoprevention by tumor growth suppression (8, 50, 51). Results of animal studies suggest that curcumin may also be beneficial in neurodegenerative conditions such as Alzheimer's disease (52-54), focal cerebral ischemia (55-58) and has a protective role against certain injuries to hippocampus neurons (59, 60). In our study, curcumintreated EBs were virtually indistinguishable from control EBs in terms of morphology. We found that curcumin significantly increased the differentiation of ESCs towards ectodermal lineages, suppressing the other lineages to some extent. However, the elevated expression of neuronal gene markers due to curcumin treatment remains to be elucidated.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the "Embryonic Stem cell-based Novel Alternative Testing Strategies" (ESNATS) EU project (Grant agreement no.: FP7 – 201619).

7. REFERENCES

1. Keith Singletary: Diet, natural products and cancer chemoprevention. *J Nutr* 130, 465S-466S (2000)

2. Lee W. Wattenberg: Chemoprevention of Cancer. *Cancer Res* 45, 1-8 (1985)

3. Yoong-Joon Surh: Cancer chemoprevention with dietary phytochemicals. *Nat Rev Cancer* 3, 768-780 (2003)

4. Bharat B. Aggarwal, S. Shishodia: Molecular targets of dietary agents for prevention and therapy of cancer. *Biochem Pharmacol* 71, 1397-1421 (2006)

5. Giulia Di Carlo, Nicola Mascolo, Angelo A. Izzo, Francesco Capasso: Flavonoids: Old and new aspects of a class of natural therapeutic drugs. *Life Sci* 65, 337-353 (1999)

6. Lori Coward, N. C. Barnes, K. D. R. Setchell, S. Barnes: Genistein, Daidzein, and Their Beta-Glycoside Conjugates - Antitumor Isoflavones in Soybean Foods from American and Asian Diets. *J Agric Food Chem* 41, 1961-1967 (1993)

7. Michael B. Sporn, D. L. Newton: Chemo-Prevention of Cancer with Retinoids. *Federation Proceedings* 38, 2528-2534 (1979)

8. Chinthalapally V. Rao, A. Rivenson, B. Simi, B. S. Reddy: Chemoprevention of Colon Carcinogenesis by Dietary Curcumin, A Naturally-Occurring Plant Phenolic Compound. *Cancer Res* 55, 259-266 (1995)

9. Ioanna Gouni-Berthold, A. Sachinidis: Molecular mechanisms explaining the preventive effects of catechins on the development of proliferative diseases. *Curr Pharm Des* 10, 1261-1271 (2004)

10. Brian T. Kawasaki, Elaine M. Hurt, Tashan Mistree, William L. Farrar: Targeting Cancer Stem Cells with Phytochemicals. *Mol Interv* 8, 174-184 (2008)

11. Beatrice E. Bachmeier, Peter Killian, Ulrich Pfeffer, Andreas G. Nerlich: Novel aspects for the application of Curcumin in chemoprevention of various cancers. *Front Biosci* (Schol Ed) 2, (2010)

12. Preetha Anand, A. B. Kunnumakkara, R. A. Newman, B. B. Aggarwal: Bioavailability of curcumin: Problems and promises. *Molecular Pharm* 4, 807-818 (2007)

13. Jong-Deog Kim, L. P. Liu, W. M. Guo, M. Meydani: Chemical structure of flavonols in relation to modulation of angiogenesis and immune-endothelial cell adhesion. *J Nutr Biochem* 17, 165-176 (2006)

14. Wen-Fu Tan, L. P. Lin, M. H. Li, Y. X. Zhang, Y. G. Tong, D. Xiao, J. Ding: Quercetin, a dietary-derived flavonoid, possesses antiangiogenic potential. *Eur J Pharmacol* 459, 255-262 (2003)

15. Bharat B. Aggarwal, A. Kumar, A. C. Bharti: Anticancer potential of curcumin: Preclinical and clinical studies. *Anticancer Res* 23, 363-398 (2003)

16. Yan-Der Hsuuw, C. K. Chang, W. H. Chan, J. S. Yu: Curcumin prevents methylglyoxal-induced oxidative stress and apoptosis in mouse embryonic stem cells and blastocysts. *J Cell Physiol* 205, 379-386 (2005)

17. Giulia Di Carlo, N. Mascolo, A. A. Izzo, F. Capasso: Flavonoids: Old and new aspects of a class of natural therapeutic drugs. *Life Sci* 65, 337-353 (1999)

18. Hiroyuki Inaba, Y. Nagaoka, Y. Kushima, A. Kumagai, Y. Matsumoto, M. Sakaguchi, K. Baba, S. Uesato: Comparative examination of anti-proliferative activities of (-)-epigallocatechin gallate and (-)-epigallocatechin against HCT116 colorectal carcinoma cells. *Biol Pharm Bull* 31, 79-84 (2008)

19. Sharmila Shankar, S. Ganapathy, S. R. Hingorani, R. K. Srivastava: EGCG inhibits growth, invasion, angiogenesis and metastasis of pancreatic cancer. *Front Biosci* 13, 440-452 (2008)

20. Nagi Kumar, D. Shibata, J. Helm, D. Coppola, M. Malafa: Green tea polyphenols in the prevention of colon cancer. *Front Biosci* 12, 2309-2315 (2007)

21. Anna M. Wobus, K. R. Boheler: Embryonic stem cells: Prospects for developmental biology and cell therapy. *Physiol Rev* 85, 635-678 (2005)

22. Gordon Keller: Embryonic stem cell differentiation: emergence of a new era in biology and medicine. *Genes & Dev*19, 1129-1155 (2005)

23. Chung-Lan Kao, L. K. Tai, S. H. Chiou, Y. J. Chen, K. H. Lee, S. J. Chou, Y. L. Chang, C. M. Chang, S. J. Chen,

H. H. Ku, H. Y. Li: Resveratrol p romotes osteogenic differentiation and protects against dexamethasone damage in murine induced pluripotent stem cells. *Stem Cells Dev* 19, 247-258 (2010)

24. Qingzhong Xiao, Zhenling Luo, Anna E. Pepe, Andriani Margariti, Lingfang Zeng, Qingbo Xu: Embryonic stem cell differentiation into smooth muscle cells is mediated by Nox4-produced H2O2. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 296, C711-C723 (2009)

25. Sunny Sun-Kin Chan, Jyh H. Chen, Shiaw M. Hwang, I. J. Wang, Hui J. Li, Richard T. Lee, Patrick C. H. Hsieh: Salvianolic acid B-vitamin C synergy in cardiac differentiation from embryonic stem cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 387, 723-728 (2009)

26. Genschow, H. Spielmann, G. Scholz, I. Pohl, A. Seiler, N. Clemann, S. Bremer and K. Becker: Validation of the embryonic stem cell test in the international ECVAM validation study on three *in vitro* embryotoxicity tests. Atla-Alternatives to Laboratory Animals. 32, 209-244 (2004)

27. G. Scholz, I. Pohl, E. Genschow, M. Klemm and H. Spielmann: Embryotoxicity screening using embryonic stem cells *in vitro*: Correlation to *in vivo* teratogenicity. Cells Tissues Organs. 165, 203-211 (1999)

28. S. Bremer and T. Hartung: The use of embryonic stem cells for regulatory developmental toxicity testing *in vitro* - The current status of test development. Current Pharmaceutical Design. 10, 2733-2747 (2004)

29. T. Hofer, I. Gerner, U. Gundert-Remy, M. Liebsch, A. Schulte, H. Spielmann, R. Vogel and K. Wettig: Animal testing and alternative approaches for the human health risk assessment under the proposed new European chemicals regulation. Archives of Toxicology. 78, 549-564 (2004)

30. Austin G. Smith: Culture and differentiation of embryonic stem cells. *J Tissue Cult Methods* 13, 89-94 (1991)

31. Anna M. Wobus, G. Wallukat, J. Hescheler: Pluripotent Mouse Embryonic Stem-Cells Are Able to Differentiate Into Cardiomyocytes Expressing Chronotropic Responses to Adrenergic and Cholinergic Agents and Ca2+ Channel Blockers. *Differentiation* 48, 173-182 (1991)

32. Victor A. Maltsev, A. M. Wobus, J. Rohwedel, M. Bader, J. Hescheler: Cardiomyocytes Differentiated In-Vitro from Embryonic Stem-Cells Developmentally Express Cardiac-Specific Genes and Ionic Currents. *Circ Res* 75, 233-244 (1994)

33. Ann H. Cory, T. C. Owen, J. A. Barltrop, J. G. Cory: Use of An Aqueous Soluble Tetrazolium Formazan Assay for Cell-Growth Assays in Culture. *Cancer Commun* 3, 207-212 (1991)

34. Bernd Bonnekoh, A. Wevers, F. Jugert, H. Merk, G. Mahrle: Colorimetric growth assay for epidermal cell cultures by their crystal violet binding capacity. *Arch Dermatol Res* 281, 487-490 (1989)

35. Jonathan D. Parsons: A high-throughput method for fitting dose-response curves using Microsoft Excel. *Anal Biochem* 360, 309-311 (2007)

36. Mattias Festag, B. Viertel, P. Steinberg, C. Sehner: An *in vitro* embryotoxicity assay based on the disturbance of the differentiation of murine embryonic stem cells into endothelial cells. II. Testing of compounds. *Toxicol In vitro* 21, 1631-1640 (2007)

37. Steve Rozen, H. Skaletsky: Primer3 on the WWW for general users and for biologist programmers. *Methods Mol Biol* 132, 365-386 (2000)

38. Michael X. Doss, J. Winkler, S. Chen, R. Hippler-Altenburg, I. Sotiriadou, M. Halbach, K. Pfannkuche, H. M. Liang, H. Schulz, O. Hummel, N. Hubner, R. Rottscheidt, J. Hescheler, A. Sachinidis: Global transcriptome analysis of murine embryonic stem cellderived cardiomyocytes. *Genome Biol* 8, (2007)

39. Martina Buggisch, B. Ateghang, C. Ruhe, C. Strobel, S. Lange, M. Wartenberg, H. Sauer: Stimulation of ES-cellderived cardiomyogenesis and neonatal cardiac cell proliferation by reactive oxygen species and NADPH oxidase. *J Cell Sci* 120, 885-894 (2007)

40. Boon C. Heng, H. K. Haider, E. K. W. Sim, T. Cao, S. C. Ng: Strategies for directing the differentiation of stem cells into the cardiomyogenic lineage *in vitro*. *Cardiovasc Res* 62, 34-42 (2004)

41. Heinrich Sauer, M. Wartenberg: Reactive oxygen species as signaling molecules in cardiovascular differentiation of embryonic stem cells and tumor-induced angiogenesis. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 7, 1423-1434 (2005)

42. Qu-Fan Collins, H. Y. Liu, J. B. Pi, Z. Q. Liu, M. J. Quon, W. H. Cao: Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG), a green tea polyphenol, suppresses hepatic gluconeogenesis through 5 '-AMP-activated protein kinase. *J Biol Chem* 282, 30143-30149 (2007)

43. Agapios Sachinidis, S. Schwengberg, R. Hippler-Altenburg, D. Mariappan, N. Kamisetti, B. Seelig, A. Berkessel, J. Hescheler: Identification of small signalling molecules promoting cardiac-specific differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells. *Cell Physiol Biochem* 18, 303-314 (2006)

44. Joshua D. Lambert, C. S. Yang: Mechanisms of cancer prevention by tea constituents. *J Nutr* 133, 3262S-3267S (2003)

45. Shih-Rong Hsieh, D. C. Tsai, J. Y. Chen, S. W. Tsai, Y. M. Liou: Green tea extract protects rats against myocardial infarction associated with left anterior descending coronary artery ligation. *Pflugers Arch* 458, 631-642 (2009)

46. Ying-Ming Liou, S. C. Kuo, S. R. Hsieh: Differential effects of a green tea-derived polyphenol (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate on the acidosis-induced decrease

in the Ca2+ sensitivity of cardiac and skeletal muscle. *Pflugers Arch* 456, 787-800 (2008)

47. Mou-Tuan Huang, T. Lysz, T. Ferraro, T. F. Abidi, J. D. Laskin, A. H. Conney: Inhibitory Effects of Curcumin on Invitro Lipoxygenase and Cyclooxygenase Activities in Mouse Epidermis. *Cancer Res* 51, 813-819 (1991)

48. Alan J. Ruby, G. Kuttan, K. D. Babu, K. N. Rajasekharan, R. Kuttan: Antitumor and Antioxidant Activity of Natural Curcuminoids. *Cancer Lett* 94, 79-83 (1995)

49. Shishir Shishodia, Sethi, G., and Aggarwal, B. B. (2005). Curcumin: Getting back to the roots, pp. 206-217. NEW YORK ACAD SCIENCES, NEW YORK

50. Shuang-En Chuang, M. L. Kuo, C. H. Hsu, C. R. Chen, J. K. Lin, G. M. Lai, C. Y. Hsieh, A. L. Cheng: Curcumincontaining diet inhibits diethylnitrosamine-induced murine hepatocarcinogenesis. *Carcinogenesis* 21, 331-335 (2000)

51. H. Chen, Z. S. Zhang, Y. L. Zhang, D. Y. Zhou: Curcumin inhibits cell proliferation by interfering with the cell cycle and inducing apoptosis in colon carcinoma cells. *Anticancer Res* 19, 3675-3680 (1999)

52. Vittorio Calabrese, D. A. Butterfield, Anna M. G. Stella: Nutritional antioxidants and the heme oxygenase pathway of stress tolerance: novel targets for neuroprotection in Alzheimer's disease. *Ital J Biochem* 52, (2003)

53. Giselle P. Lim, T. Chu, F. S. Yang, W. Beech, S. A. Frautschy, G. M. Cole: The curry spice curcumin reduces oxidative damage and amyloid pathology in an Alzheimer transgenic mouse. *Journal of Neurosci* 21, 8370-8377 (2001)

54. Fusheng Yang, G. P. Lim, A. N. Begum, O. J. Ubeda, M. R. Simmons, S. S. Ambegaokar, P. P. Chen, R. Kayed, C. G. Glabe, S. A. Frautschy, G. M. Cole: Curcumin inhibits formation of amyloid beta oligomers and fibrils, binds plaques, and reduces amyloid *in vivo. J Biol Chem* 280, 5892-5901 (2005)

55. Meenakshisundaram Thiyagarajan, S. S. Sharma: Neuroprotective effect of curcumin in middle cerebral artery occlusion induced focal cerebral ischemia in rats. *Life Sci* 74, 969-985 (2004)

56. Fadhel A. Al Omar, M. N. Nagi, M. M. Abdulgadir, K. S. Al Joni, A. A. Al Majed: Immediate and delayed treatments with curcumin prevents forebrain ischemiainduced neuronal damage and oxidative insult in the rat hippocampus. *Neurochem Res* 31, 611-618 (2006)

57. Virginia Zbarsky, K. P. Datla, S. Parkar, D. K. Rai, O. I. Aruoma, D. T. Dexter: Neuroprotective properties of the natural phenolic antioxidants curcumin and naringenin but not quercetin and fisetin in a 6-OHDA model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurochem Res* 39, 1119-1125 (2005)

58. Yuan-Gui Zhu, X. C. Chen, Z. Z. Chen, Y. Q. Zeng, G. B. Shi, Y. H. Su, X. Peng: Curcumin protects mitochondria from oxidative damage and attenuates apoptosis in cortical neurons. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* 25, 1606-1612 (2004)

59. Yaowared Sumanont, Y. Murakami, M. Tohda, O. Vajragupta, H. Watanabe, K. Matsumoto: Prevention of kainic acid-induced changes in nitric oxide level and neuronal cell damage in the rat hippocampus by manganese complexes of curcumin and diacetylcurcumin. *Life Sci* 78, 1884-1891 (2006)

60. Aiguo Wu, Z. Ying, F. Gomez-Pinilla: Dietary curcumin counteracts the outcome of traumatic brain injury on oxidative stress, synaptic plasticity, and cognition. *Exp Neurol* 197, 309-317 (2006)

Abbreviations: MI- myocardial infarction; COX-2cyclooxygenase-2; MMP-9- matrix metalloproteinase-9; DNA-deoxyribonucleic acid; H₂O₂-hydrogen peroxide; EGCG- (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate; CVDcardiovascular diseases; PDGF- platelet derived growth factor; PDGF-R- platelet derived growth factor-receptor; ROS- reactive oxidative species; CHD- coronary heart disease; HSP70- heat shock protein 70;

Key Words: Chemoprevention, Epigallocatechin-3-Ogallate, Quercetin, Curcumin, Embryonic Stem Cells, Embryonic Stem Cell Differentiation

Send correspondence to: Agapios Sachinidis, Center of Physiology and Pathophysiology, Institute of Neurophysiology, Robert Koch-Str. 39, Cologne, Germany, Tel: 492214787373, Fax: 492214786965, E-mail: a.sachinidis@uni-koeln.de

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol4E.htm